FILED

DEC 02 2016

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

No. 73268-4-I

No. 93883.

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HASSAN FARAH, ILEYS OMAR, MARIAN MUMIN, DAHIR JAMA, FOUZIA M. MOHAMUD, MARIAN ALI, ABDIAZIZ ABDULLE, SAALIM ABUKAR, MOHAMED ISMAIL, SUDI HASHI, HALI ABDULLE, MURAYAD ABDULLAHI, ZAINAB AWEIS, FARDOWSA ADEN, MARYAN MUSE, ASLI MOHAMED, SAHRA GELLE (A/K/A Hani Huseen), ASHA FARAH, ALI ADAM ABDI, MUNA MOHAMED, FARAH GEEDI, AHMED HASSAN HUSSEIN, IBRAHIM SALAH, AHMED A. HIRSI, and MOHAMUD A. HASSAN,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners.

٧.

HERTZ TRANSPORTING, INC., MATT HOEHNE, and TODD HARRIS,

Defendants/Respondents,

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners are Hassan Farah, Ileys Omar, Marian Mumin,
Dahir Jama, Fouzia M. Mohamud, Marian Ali, Abdiaziz Abdulle,
Saalim Abukar, Mohamed Ismail, Sudi Hashi, Hali Abdulle, Murayad
Abdullahi, Zainab Aweis, Fardowsa Aden, Maryan Muse, Asli
Mohamed, Sahra Gelle, Asha Farah, Ali Adam Abdi, Muna
Mohamed, Farah Geedi, Ahmed Hassan Hussein, Ibrahim Salah,
Ahmed A. Hirsi, and Mohamud A. Hassan (together "Farah"), the
plaintiffs/appellants below, who ask this Court to accept review of the
Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Farah seeks review of the published opinion of the Court of Appeals entered on October 3, 2016 ("the Opinion" or "Op."). A copy of the Opinion is in the Appendix, attached at pages A1-A19.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1 Is an issue of substantial public interest presented when the Court of Appeals, in a published opinion, resolves a federal circuit court split in Title VII cases and, for purposes of the WLAD, adopts the rule that is less protective of employees in that it does not require that the jury be informed that the law permits, but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The denial of Farah's motion for reconsideration is attached at A20-A21.

does not require, the jury to infer the fact of discrimination from proof that an employer's stated reasons for its decisions are not the real reasons (*i.e.*, based on proof of pretext)?

Issue No. 2 Is the Court of Appeals statement that "instructing jurors on permissible inferences risks confusing the jury regarding the ultimate issue a plaintiff must prove" (A9) in conflict with the Supreme Court statement "that plaintiff was entitled to an instruction permitting the jury to infer negligence" in Siegler v.

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kuhlman, 81 Wn.2d 448, 453, 502 P.2d 1181 (1972) and other cases?

#### 1. Factual Background.

Hassan Farah and 24 other Somali immigrants, who are practicing Muslims, worked as 'shuttlers' for Hertz Transporting at Seattle-Tacoma International Airport (Sea-Tac). 'Shuttlers' move rental vehicles around the grounds, for example, from where customers return the cars to locations for cleaning or maintenance.

In September 2011, Hertz implemented a break policy for its shuttlers, requiring them to 'punch' out for all personal activities, including prayer. The parties dispute whether employees were required to punch out for prayer before this new policy. They agree that no one was disciplined for not punching out for prayer until September 2011.

Op., at A2.

Plaintiffs testified that for more than a decade, Hertz permitted its Somali Muslim employees to stop work to briefly pray during the

workday without clocking out;<sup>2</sup> and that the company likewise permitted employees to engage in other activities, including smoking, drinking coffee, and going to the bathroom, without clocking out.<sup>3</sup>

"The [new] policy went into effect on September 30, 2011," a Friday. *Id.* Mohamed Babou, the only Hertz manager who speaks Somali and who the company sometimes used to translate in Somali for the work force, does not work Fridays or Saturdays and thus was not working that day. 11/12, RP 211-12. Most of Hertz's Somali Muslim employees cannot read or write in English and understood only the few words needed to do their jobs (*e.g.*, "take the dirty car"). Hertz did not translate its new policy memo about clocking out into Somali. *See* Exs. 1 and 2. When the company issued a prior memorandum related to taking breaks that did not mention prayer or "religious observation," Hertz deemed it necessary to translate that memo into the Somali language. *Compare id.*, with Ex. 1735.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., 11/12 RP 26-27; 11/17 RP 140-41; 11/17 RP 151; id., at 173.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., 11/12 RP 35; 11/17 RP 143-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See 12/2 RP 97 (A. Abdulle); 11/17 RP 170 (A. Abdi); 11/24 RP 82-83 (F. Aden); 11/18 RP 121-22 (S. Hashi); 12/2 RP 24 (A. Hussein); 11/20 RP 22 (D. Jama); 11/25 RP 13 (A. Mohamed); 12/1 RP 73 (F. Geedi); 12/2 RP 119 (F. Mohamud); 11/19] RP 117 (H. Abdulle); 12/1 RP 32 (I. Salah); 12/3 RP 30-31 (M. Ali); 12/3 RP 56 (M. Muse); 11/25 RP 67 (M. Abdullahi); 11/25 RP 111 (S. Abubakar); 11/24 RP 48 (H. Huseen); 12/2 RP 58 (M. Mumin). A few of the plaintiffs spoke and read English at an elementary level. See 11/18 RP 63 (A. Farah); 11/24 RP 111 (A. Hirsi); 11/20 RP 46- 47 (H. Farah); 11/19 RP 76 (M. Ismail); 12/1 RP 104-05 (M. Hassan); 11/13 RP 115-16 (M. Mohamed); 11/25 RP 45 (Z. Aweis). And only one of the plaintiffs spoke English fluently. See 11/12 RP 15 (Omar).

On September 30, 2011, "or within the first few days of October, Farah and the other plaintiffs prayed without punching out. Hertz suspended them." Op., at A2.

Hertz managers testified that they informed their employees about the policy by posting notices, in English, about the policy in several prominent locations, discussing it at meetings, and asking employees if they had punched out as the employees entered the prayer rooms. ... Many of the plaintiffs testified that they were not aware of the policy change at the time they were suspended.

Op., at A2-A3 (italics added).

In his deposition, Hertz Manager Matt Hoehne admitted, "I don't recall us asking anyone that was entering the prayer area if you are clocked out for break." 11/12 RP 165-169. At trial, Hoehne tried to change his testimony. *See id.* (testifying "prior to them entering the prayer area... we asked each individual 'Did you clock out for prayer?").

The change in testimony was significant, because at the time Hertz suspended the plaintiffs, the company's "Rules & Regulations" stated that an employee may be subject to "progressive discipline including verbal and/or written warning, suspension or discharge" for failing to "follow established time card procedures." Ex. 1076, ¶ 17; accord 11/13 RP 38 ("If we did not give a direct order ... and we saw somebody in the prayer area after the fact, then I agree misuse of

company time would have been the correct remedy[,] ... result[ing] in a first written warning, the first step of [progressive] discipline"); 12/3 RP 116 (same). Hertz did not follow progressive discipline and give each of the plaintiffs written warnings for praying without clocking out, but instead suspended all of the plaintiffs for alleged insubordination. *See* 11/17 RP 129; 11/12 RP 170. "Insubordination, the way that works, you have to say something three times. And then, at that point, you can suspend someone." 11/12 RP 234; *accord* Ex. 237; Ex. 15; and Exs. 154, 195, 219 (Hertz reports to the Employment Security Department that plaintiffs were "asked three times to punch out on that final day when [they] went to take [their] breaks and refused each time"). Plaintiffs disputed being told three times of the new policy and refusing. *See*, *e.g.*, 11/12 RP 131-32; 11/25 RP 128.

Hertz management also claimed that it implemented the new policy in September 2011 due to break "abuse," which it said included smoking and various breaks by "some staff." See 11/12 RP 189-90 ("I was aware that we had abuse. When I say abuse I mean that we had some staff that would take breaks that they wouldn't clock out for, and that wasn't just Somali Muslim shuttlers. We had people smoking and not clocking out. We had various breaks that weren't being accounted for."); id., at 185-86. Regarding the alleged

prayer abuse, Hertz claimed "that the prayer situation was an hour long, was what was being described." 11/17 RP 98. Again, Plaintiffs contested this, testifying that their prayer rituals typically took three to five minutes. *See* 11/13/14 RP 139; 11/12/14 RP 39.

During their suspensions, Plaintiffs made unconditional offers to return to work, despite their belief that Hertz had violated the anti-discrimination laws.<sup>5</sup> Rather than return the plaintiffs to work, Hertz terminated their employment *en masse* on October 20, 2011, without citing any individual abuse of a prayer break.<sup>6</sup>

By October 21, 2011, there was national media coverage to the effect that Hertz was applying a new break policy only against Somali Muslims who were praying and not applying the policy, for example, to employees "smoking while not clocked out." 11/12 RP 202-205. After this media coverage, managers "began documenting ... anytime we saw any employee that was not doing work... if they're smoking or praying or they're in the break room or whatever

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., Ex. 59 (A. Abdulle); Ex. 80 (A. Abdi); Ex. 115 (F. Aden); Ex. 233 (S. Hashi); Ex. 73 (A. Hussein); Ex. 94 (A. Mohamed); Ex. 107 (F. Geedi); Ex. 122 (H. Abdulle); Ex. 142 (I. Salah); Ex. 161 (M. Ali); Ex. 178 (M. Muse); Ex. 210 (M. Abdullahi); Ex. 217 (S. Abubakar); Ex. 226 (H. Huseen, f.k.a. S. Galle); Ex. 170 (M. Mumin); Ex. 88 (A. Farah); Ex. 66 (A. Hirsi); Ex. 130 (H. Farah); Ex. 193 (M. Hassan); Ex. 202 (M. Mohamed); Ex. 243; Ex. 152 (I. Omar).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., Ex. 60 (A. Abdulle); Ex. 67 (A. Hirsi); Ex. 81 (A. Abdi); Ex. 116 (F. Aden); Ex. 234 (S. Hashi); Ex. 74 (A. Hussein); Ex. 101 (D. Jama); Ex. 95 (A. Mohamed); Ex. 108 (F. Geedi); Ex. 123 (H. Abdulle); Ex. 131 (H. Farah); Ex. 186 (M. Ismail); Ex. 171 (M. Ali); Ex. 194 (M. Hassan); Ex. 203 (M. Mohamed); Ex. 218 (S. Abubakar); Ex. 227 (H. Huseen, f.k.a. S. Galle); Ex. 244 (Z. Aweis); Ex. 153 (I. Omar).

it may be...." *Id.* Employees had earlier been told they were allowed to smoke without clocking out. *See* 11/12 RP 209-210; 11/17 RP 153

On October 25, 2011, after the media coverage, Hertz observed a non-Somali employee who was smoking without being clocked out; the company did not suspend him, it issued him a "first written warning." 11/12 RP 206; Ex. 3; 11/17 RP 149. *Id.* That same day, another non-Somali employee was caught smoking while not clocked out; he was given a "verbal warning" and told "the next time he was seen smoking on the clock he will be written up." Ex. 22. In December 2011, a third non-Somali employee was caught smoking without clocking out; he was not suspended but was given a first written warning. Exs. 264-265. In March 2012, a fourth non-Somali employee was observed smoking while not clocked out and he too was given a first written warning. Ex. 7.

#### 2. Procedural Background

The plaintiffs sued Hertz and two of its managers for discrimination based on national origin and religion. Op., at A3. "Farah requested an instruction on a permissible inference that the jury would be allowed to draw if it disbelieved Hertz's stated reasons for terminating [the plaintiffs]." Op., at A4. The court did not give the requested "pretext" instruction. *Id.* "The jury returned verdicts for the

defense." *Id.* In a published opinion, Division One of the Court of Appeals held that "it was not error for the trial court to refuse to give Farah's proposed instruction." Op., at A9

The Opinion notes that currently "Washington's pattern jury instructions ['WPI'] for employment discrimination do not include a pretext instruction" and that the comments to the WPI "indicate that 'an instruction or language on pretext is inappropriate." Op., at A6, citing 6A Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Civil 330.01, cmt. at 346 (6th ed. 2012) (WPI). The Opinion states Farah's requested instruction was "an accurate statement of the law" and "[w]hile the instruction would have been appropriate, it was not necessary." Op., at A4-A5. The jury was instructed, inter alia, that "[t]he evidence that has been presented to you may be either direct or circumstantial. ... [C]ircumstantial evidence' refers to evidence from which, based on your common sense and experience, you may reasonably infer something that is at issue in the case." 12/10 RP 52-53; CP 2279. The Opinion held that such "general instructions were sufficient for Farah to inform the jury of the applicable law and allow[ed] Farah to argue his theory of the case." See Op., at A9. It further held that the "court's instructions were not misleading." Id.

Although the Court of Appeals did not require an instruction on pretext in WLAD case, it acknowledged there is a federal circuit court split in which five circuits have endorsed requiring a pretext instruction in appropriate Title VII cases. Op., at A7 (citing cases).

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. An Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented by the Court of Appeals' Adoption of the Federal Court Rule Under Title VII That Gives Less Protection to Employees.

The question presented in this case could arise in virtually every Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD") case tried to a jury, due to the frequency with which plaintiffs must rely on evidence of pretext to prove a WLAD claim. *See Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 179, 184, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) ("Direct, 'smoking gun' evidence of discriminatory animus is rare, since there will seldom be 'eyewitness' testimony as to the employer's mental processes, and 'employers infrequently announce their bad motives orally or in writing. ... Proof that the defendant's explanation is unworthy of credence is simply one form of circumstantial evidence that is probative of intentional discrimination, and it may be quite persuasive.") (internal quotations and citations omitted).

The WLAD "seeks to remedy an evil that ... 'menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state." Reese v.

Sears, Roebuck & Co., 107 Wn.2d 563, 569 (1987), quoting RCW 49.60.010. "The overarching purpose of the law is to deter and eradicate discrimination in Washington." Brown v. Scott Paper Worldwide Co., 143 Wn.2d 349, 360, 20 P.3d 921 (2001). "The legislature directs us to construe the WLAD liberally." Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 445, 334 P.3d 541 (2014).

Washington courts ... look to federal case law interpreting [Title VII] to guide our interpretation of the WLAD. Federal cases are not binding on this court, which is 'free to adopt those theories and rationale which best further the purposes and mandates of our state statute.' ... Where this court has departed from federal antidiscrimination statute precedent, however, it has almost always ruled that the WLAD provides *greater* employee protections than its federal counterparts do.

Kumar v. Gate Gourmet Inc., 180 Wn.2d 481, 491, 325 P.3d 193 (2014) (internal citation omitted; italics added).

The Opinion recognizes that in this case the "federal courts do not provide a clear answer because there is a circuit split" regarding whether the pretext instruction Farah requested is required. *See* Op., at A7-A9. Rather than adopt the rule endorsed by the Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, and Tenth circuits, which best furthers the purpose and mandate of the WLAD by requiring a permissible inference instruction in appropriate cases; Division One of the Court of Appeals opted to follow the line of cases from the First, Seventh, Eighth,

Ninth and Eleventh Circuits, which hold that no pretext inference instruction is required—a rule that provides employees less protection by making it more difficult for them to prove their case; and thus makes it more difficult to eradicate discrimination in Washington. *See* Op., at A7-A9. The Opinion's rationale for rejecting the more protective rule under federal law is misguided.

a. The Lack of a Permissive Inference Instruction Leaves
the Jury Uninformed On the Applicable Law and Is
Likely To Mislead the Jury Into Believing Plaintiff
Must Present Evidence Beyond Pretext.

"The court determines questions of law and imparts the law of the case to the jury by means of instructions." *State v. Shelton*, 71 Wn.2d 838, 843, 431 P.2d 201 (1967). The Court in the Opinion found that the pretext instruction Farah requested is "an accurate statement of the law" and "would have been appropriate." Op., at 2 and 5.

In *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, the Court of Appeals set aside a jury verdict in favor of the plaintiff for insufficient evidence, applying a "pretext-plus" standard that required the plaintiff to "prove more than that the employer's stated reason for the employment decision is unworthy of belief." 97 Wn. App. 657, 661, 986 P.2d 137 (1999). The Court vacated that decision, rejecting the "pretext-plus" standard and holding instead that "it is *permissible* for the trier of fact

to infer the ultimate fact of discrimination from the falsity of the employer's explanation." 144 Wn.2d 172, 184, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (italics in original) (quoting *Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods, Inc.*, 530 U.S. 133, 147, 120 S.Ct. 2097, 147 L.Ed.2d 105 (2000)).

Under the standard adopted in *Hill*, plaintiffs' discrediting of the employer's explanation "is entitled to considerable weight, such that [a] plaintiff should not be routinely required to submit evidence over and above proof of pretext." 144 Wn.2d at 183, *quoting Reeves*, 530 U.S. at 140 and 194. Without a pretext instruction, the jury is likely to be confused like the Court of Appeals in *Hill* and to be misled into believing that the plaintiff needs to present proof of discrimination beyond the proof of pretext to be able to infer a discriminatory motive. *See Townsend v. Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co.*, 294 F.3d 1232, 1241 (10th Cir. 2002) (discussing Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals making the same erroneous assumption in *Reeves*).

[T]he permissibility of an inference of discrimination from pretext alone is a matter of law .... While counsel may be relied on to ... suggest reasoning, the judge's duty to give an instruction on an applicable matter of law is clear. That is particularly true where, as here, the law goes to the heart of the matter.... It is unreasonable... to expect that jurors, aided only by the arguments of counsel, will intuitively grasp a point of law that until recently eluded federal judges who had the benefits of such arguments.

Townsend, 294 F.3d at 1241 n.5; see also Smith v. Borough of

Wilkinsburg, 147 F.3d 272, 280-81 (3d Cir. 1998) ("In light of the ... inordinate amount of ink that has been spilled over the question of how a jury may use its finding of pretext, it would be disingenuous to argue that it is nothing more than a matter of common sense"); Kozlowski v. Hampton Sch. Bd., 77 Fed. Appx. 133, 143 (4th Cir. 2003) ("Given the amount of disagreement among judges of the federal courts of appeals over whether a jury may infer discrimination simply from their disbelief of the employer's stated justifications, it seems unlikely that jurors will uniformly intuit that such an inference is permissible"); Ratliff v. City of Gainesville, 256 F.3d 355, 361 n.7 (5th Cir. 2001) ("It does not denigrate the intelligence of our jurors to suggest that they need some instruction in the permissibility of drawing that inference.") (quotation and citation omitted).

The Opinion cites the unpublished decision, *Kozlowski v. Hampton Sch. Bd.*, 77 Fed. Appx. 133, 144 (4th Cir. 2003), as persuasive authority endorsing the requirement of a pretext instruction. Op., at A7-A8. The facts of *Kozlowski* illustrate why an instruction on the permissible inference that can be drawn from proof of pretext is needed to avoid misleading the jury. In *Kozlowski*, the jury, during deliberations, asked the trial court, "By virtue of exclusion of defense's reasons for [the] nonrenewal, must we

conclude under the law that age discrimination has occurred?" *Id.*, at 142. After the jury expressed its confusion on the law, "the court decided simply to repeat the general instruction without addressing the question specifically." *Id.* The jury returned a defense verdict. *Id.*, at 135.

"An examination of circuit cases reveals that where ... a jury is not informed that they are allowed to make an inference [of discrimination based on evidence of pretext], they will not make it."

T. Devine, Jr., "The Critical Effect of a Pretext Jury Instruction," 80

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