RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 16, 2016, 4:22 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93883-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HASSAN FARAH, ILEYS OMAR, MARIAN MUMIN, DAHIR JAMA, FOUZIA M. MOHAMUD, MARIAN ALI, ABDIAZIZ ABDULLE, SAALIM ABUKAR, MOHAMED ISMAIL, SUDI HASHI, HALI ABDULLE, MURAYAD ABDULLAHI, ZAINAB AWEIS, FARDOWSA ADEN, MARYAN MUSE, ASLI MOHAMED, SAHRA GELLE (A/K/A) Hani Huseen), ASHA FARAH, ALI ADAM ABDI, MUNA MOHAMED, FARAH GEEDI, AHMED HASSAN HUSSEIN, IBRAHIM SALAH, AHMED A. HIRSI, and MOHAMUD A. HASSAN,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

HERTZ TRANSPORTING, INC., MATT HOEHNE, and TODD HARRIS;

Defendants/Respondents.

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

2. There Was No Error of Law in the Jury Instructions

In this case, the trial court provided instructions on discrimination that mirror the pattern instructions and accurately reflect the WLAD. 12/10 RP 54:11-55:2, 56:10-14. Petitioners nevertheless contend that the instructions failed to inform the jury of the applicable law. Petition at 9-15. Petitioners claim that the refusal to mandate a pretext instruction undermines the WLAD and allows for rampant jury confusion. This argument is not supported by logic, experience or applicable law. For the more than 20 years since *Burnside*, *Kastanis* and *Mackay*, trial courts have been guided by **both** *Mackay's* broad interpretation of the WLAD **and** the directives of *Burnside* and *Kastanis* that burden-shifting and pretext

12

instructions are not necessary and carry the risk of jury confusion.²⁹ These concepts are baked into the pattern jury instruction via the flexible "substantial factor" test for liability. The mere fact that no Washington appellate court has previously mandated a pretext instruction belies Petitioners' claim that one is required under the WLAD in every case.

Petitioners argue that an instruction on pretext is necessary to give effect to the Court's decision in *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172. In *Hill*, the Court addressed the standard an employee must meet to survive a motion for judgment as a matter of law. 144 Wn.2d at 176. The Court concluded that a prima facie case, "plus evidence sufficient to disbelieve the employer's explanation, will *ordinarily* suffice to require" a trial, but there will still be instances where no rational factfinder could find discrimination. *Id.* at 185-190. While *Hill* speaks to whether a case should be determined by a jury or as a matter of law, it does not mandate a one-sided jury instruction wherever an employee alleges pretext.

Accordingly, given the malleable instructions provided to the jury here to guide its determination of whether discrimination was a "substantial factor" in Hertz's actions, Petitioners have no basis for

²⁹ While the Court of Appeals concluded in its Opinion (at 7) that *Burnside* and *Kastanis* are not "dispositive" of the present issue because they do not directly address whether a pretext instruction on permissible inferences is required, these precedents certainly reflect the absence of such a requirement and the existing discretion of trial courts to determine whether to provide such an instruction based on the evidence in each individual case.

claiming that the instructions given were an incorrect statement of Washington law without the addition of their proposed pretext instruction. Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not err by (i) declining to create a rule that would require trial courts to provide a pretext instruction, while still (ii) preserving a trial court's discretion to do so when appropriate.

3. <u>The Jury Instructions Provided Were Sufficient</u>

Jury instructions are sufficient if "they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury and, when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied." *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995). "No more is required." *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 256-57, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991). Under this standard, the Court of Appeals reasonably determined that the instructions provided here were sufficient and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to give a pretext instruction.

The trial court provided the pattern instructions on Petitioners' claim that discrimination was a substantial factor in their suspensions and terminations, defining "substantial factor" broadly to be a "significant motivating factor" but not "the only factor or the main factor." 12/10 RP 54:11-55:2, 56:10-14. The trial court informed the jurors that (i) it was their "duty to decide the facts," (ii) they were "the sole judges" of witness credibility and "the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each

14

witness," and, (iii) they could consider, *inter alia*, "any personal interest the witness might have in the outcome," "any bias or prejudice" shown, and "the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all of the other evidence." 12/10 RP 48:14-49:11. The trial court informed the jury that "the law does not distinguish between direct and circumstantial evidence," and that "circumstantial evidence" refers to "evidence from which, based on your common sense and experience, you may reasonably infer something that is at issue in this case." 12/10 RP 52:21-53:8.

These instructions left Petitioners free to argue to the jury that Hertz's concerns regarding Petitioners' abuse of paid rest break time and open refusal to clock for all paid rest breaks were "not the real reasons" for their suspensions and terminations and that the jury should infer that discrimination was a "substantial factor" in Hertz's actions. Petitioners in fact structured their case, from opening,³⁰ through witness examination,³¹ to closing, on unfounded allegations that Respondents were simply lying. In Petitioners' closing, their counsel: (i) repetitively argued that Hertz's reasons for its actions were a sham to execute a discriminatory plan to discharge the Petitioners; (ii) used the term "the plan" 16 times, "the setup" five times, and "targeting" five times, in reference to this alleged

 ³⁰ See, e.g., 11/6 RP 107:3-4 ("So the plan. Hertz focused on clocking out for prayer.");
 Id. at 112:12-13 ("But the plan was only applied to the Somali Muslim workforce.")
 ³¹ See, e.g., 11/12 RP 161:17-19 ("The plan that was set up on the 27th, it focused only on the Somali Muslims and prayer, correct?").

plot; (iii) expressly discussed both "circumstantial" and "direct" evidence; and (iv) and even argued that "there could be a hundred substantial factors" for Hertz's actions and national origin or religion need only be "in the mix" and "plaintiffs win."³² That the jury did not find in Petitioners' favor does not mean it was confused or not properly instructed.³³

Thus, even accepting that one route by which a jury can find discrimination is to infer its existence from disbelief of an employer's stated reasons for its actions, the trial court's refusal to give Petitioners' specific pretext instruction in this case was not an abuse of discretion. *See City of Seattle v. Pearson*, 192 Wn. App. 802, 820–23, 369 P.3d 194 (2016) (proposed instruction was an accurate statement of law, but no error in its rejection where instructions "sufficiently informed jury of the applicable law" and allowed party to argue her theory of the case); *State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wn. App. 634, 647, 251 P.3d 253 (2011) (it is not error "to refuse a specific instruction when a more general instruction adequately explains the law and allows each party to argue its case theory").³⁴

 ³² 12/10 RP 64:10-106:9, 168:1-181:8 (closing), 70:8-71:17; 77:5-77:25, 100:10-101:12, 175:13-21 (direct/circumstantial evidence), 70:8-72:25; 179:23-180:2 (substantial factor).
 ³³ Petitioners' authorities for the proposition that the trial court's instructions were insufficient do not support their position. In *Dabroe v. Rhodes Co.*, the trial court failed to give **any** instruction directly applying the duty of care standard to the alleged negligence. 64 Wn.2d 431, 432-35, 392 P.2d 317 (1964). Moreover, Petitioners' reliance on *Harris v. Fiore*, 70 Wn.2d 357, 360, 423 P.2d 63 (1967) is misleading, because in that negligence case the trial court was found to have acted properly by providing instructions on contributory negligence and deception that related to the **defendant's** case theory.
 ³⁴ Moreover, if a pretext instruction on a permissible inference of discrimination were to

4. Federal Authority Does Not Support Petitioners

Petitioners' attempt to rely on federal case law is unnecessary and misplaced, as it disregards relevant Washington law, including the fact that the WLAD "substantial factor" test is not the same as the standards applied in the federal court Title VII cases they cite.³⁵ Moreover, while Petitioners claim that five federal circuits require a pretext instruction, such requirements are not absolute. For example, before giving such an instruction, the Fourth and Tenth Circuits require the employee to make a showing that the evidence in the case warrants the instruction, such as admissions of false statements by managers regarding the employee's termination, material inconsistencies in testimony, or juror questions regarding their interpretation of the employer's non-discriminatory

be required, so should instructions on permissible inferences of **non**-discrimination. *See Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 187 (if evidence suggestive of pretext allows a case to proceed to trial, it is the jury's task to choose between "*reasonable but competing* inferences of *both* discrimination and *non*-discrimination"); *Buhrmaster v. Overnite Transp. Co.*, 61 F.3d 461, 463–64 (6th Cir. 1995) (no error in instructing jury it could infer non-discrimination from hiring and firing by same actor); *Walker v. AT&T Technologies*, 995 F.2d 846 (8th Cir. 1993) (error in denying request for instruction explaining that employer has the right to make subjective personnel decisions for any reason that is not discriminatory). In this case, the trial court rejected both Petitioners' pretext instruction **and** Hertz's proposed instruction relating to its business judgment (*i.e.*, no liability if employer's good-faith reason is faulty, so long as it is non-discriminatory). 12/10 RP 22:25-23:8.

³⁵ Compare Mackay, 127 Wn.2d at 310, and 12/10 RP 18-20, 56:10-14 (jury instructions) with Townsend v. Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co., 294 F.3d 1232, 1236-37 (10th Cir. 2002) (approving instruction using "a motivating factor" standard); Smith v. Borough of Wilkinsburg, 147 F.3d 272, 278 (3d. Cir. 1998) ("a determinative factor"; "except for" discrimination); Kozlowski v. Hampton Sch. Bd., 77 Fed. Appx. 133, 145 (4th Cir. 2003) (discrimination must be a "causative" or "determinative" factor). See also Univ. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassar, 133 S. Ct. 2517, 2520, 186 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2013) (a "motivating factor" standard applies to status-based claims under Title VII).

reason.³⁶ Here, while Petitioners argue that Mr. Hoehne contradicted prior testimony by stating that he asked a group of Petitioners if they had punched out as they approached (rather than left) the prayer area,

Petitioner Hassan Farah admitted this event at trial.³⁷ Moreover, the jury here did not ask the trial court any questions during its deliberations.

Finally, even if Title VII decisions are considered relevant, the First, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth and Eleventh circuits have reached the logical conclusion that there is no need to remove trial court discretion with respect to whether to give a pretext instruction.³⁸ These decisions reflect the reasoning quoted by the Ninth Circuit in *Browning v. U.S.*:

³⁶ See Townsend, 294 F.3d at 1235, 1241 (pretext instruction only required where "rational finder of fact could reasonably find the defendant's explanation false and could infer from the falsity of the explanation that the employer is dissembling to cover up a discriminatory purpose"; admission of false statement); *Kozlowski*, 77 Fed. Appx. at 142-44 (**if** "the evidence presented at trial creates some likelihood that the jury might disbelieve the legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons given by the employer to justify its actions, then the jury should be instructed on this permissible inference"; material inconsistencies and juror question during deliberations).

³⁷ 11/20 RP 49:11-51:12. Moreover, Mr. Hoehne was only one of many managers who tried to get Petitioners to clock out for their prayer breaks and there was testimony from other managers, Dispatchers and co-workers regarding Hertz's extensive efforts in this regard. *E.g.*, 11/12 RP 170:23-171:6; 12/4 RP 88:11-89:11, 44:9-47:5; 12/8 RP 119:18-120:10, 143:19-25; 12/9 RP 97:14-100:25; *Supra* at pp. 3-5.

³⁸ See Fife v. Digital Equip. Corp., 232 F.3d 3, 7 (1st Cir. 2000) ("we doubt that such an explanation is compulsory, even if properly requested"); *Williams v. Eau Claire Pub.* Sch., 397 F.3d 441, 446 (6th Cir. 2005) ("it is not necessary that these instructions be cast in the language of pretext or the framework of shifting burdens ... in order for them to be adequate, accurate and complete"); *Lewis v. City of Chicago Police Dep't*, 590 F.3d 427, 439–40 (7th Cir. 2009)(no error in refusal to give pretext instruction; exclusion "did not render final instructions inaccurate, nor did it cause confusion for the jury"); *Moore v. Robertson Fire Prot. Dist.*, 249 F.3d 786, 789-90 (8th Cir. 2001) (no abuse of discretion in rejecting pretext instruction); *Browning v. U.S.*, 567 F.3d 1038, 1039-41 (9th Cir. 2009) (same); *Conroy v. Abraham Chevrolet-Tampa, Inc.*, 375 F.3d 1228, 1233-35 (11th Cir. 2004) (same).

I'm mindful of Ninth Circuit authority that cautions trial judges against giving any kind of inference instruction, and I'm mindful of the risk that an inference instruction can be seen as potentially a comment on the evidence; and so I'm not inclined to give any permissive inference instruction and instead to permit counsel full latitude to argue inferences, based on a circumstantial evidence instruction.

567 F.3d at 1042. Thus, an employee cannot claim the lack of a pretext instruction misled the jury, where, as here, the trial court informed the jury it could draw inferences from the evidence and the weighing of witness credibility and the employee was free to, and did, argue that the jury should find for the employee if it believes the employer's reasons were pretextual. *See Conroy*, 375 F.3d at 1233-1236 (applying same reasoning).

B. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Supreme Court Precedent

Petitioners also argue, presumably under RAP 13.4(b)(1), that the Opinion conflicts with negligent tort cases involving the res ipsa loquitor doctrine. *Id.* at 16-20. However, this case does not involve any common law tort claim and does not turn on a negligence theory of liability. To the contrary, Petitioners' statutory claims require them to prove intentional discrimination. *See Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co.*, 162 Wn. 2d 340, 355–56, 172 P.3d 688, 697 (2007) ("the burden of persuasion always remains with the employee to show intentional discrimination."). Intended to address situations where a faultless plaintiff is injured but cannot prove a negligent act by the defendant, res ipsa loquitor allows a permissive

19

inference of negligence "in peculiar and exceptional cases, and only where the facts and the demands of justice make its application essential." *Curtis v. Lein*, 169 Wn.2d 884, 890, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010).³⁹ Here, while Petitioners claimed they were faultless and injured by a discriminatory plot, the jury rejected this claim in the face of overwhelming evidence that Petitioners' own actions were the cause of their injuries. Moreover, the jury is only instructed on res ipsa loquitor in a negligence case if the trial court first determines, as a matter of law, that the doctrine may apply to that case. *Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003). This gate-keeping function is similar to the Court of Appeals' approach here, recognizing that the trial court is in the best position to decide whether a requested instruction should be given on the record before it.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.